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PREFACE

The growth of our knowledge of Samuel Pepys makes a
romantic story. For a hundred and twenty years after his
death he was known to a few scholars and specialists as the
father of the A dmiralty administration and the creator of an
important library. To the general reading public his name
was unknown, for the historians of the eighteenth century
were Whigs and only conferred immortality on such of
their defeated opponents as were unmistakably villains. To
many generations of English readers the best-known Tory
of the later seventeenth century was Judge Jeffreys.

But in 1825, with the L:Klication of about a quarter of
his great Diary, Pepys suddenly became famous. Successive
editions, culminating in the eighteen-nineties with the
presentation of almost the whole Diary by H. B. Wheatley,
gave the world a knowledge of Pepys’ daily lifeand
character more intimate and detailed than that of any
man who has ever lived. Yet it was a curiously limited
knowledge, for it was based entirely on a shorthand journal
kept between his twenty-seventh and thirty-sixth years. Of
Pepys’ life outside those nine crowded years the world knew
nothing and cared almost less. To most people his later
career seemed as unreal and unimportant as that of Sancho
Panza or Figaro.

Yet silently Pepys clamoured to be heard. Between the
unfingered covers of hundreds of volumes in the Bodleian
and in his Library at Magdalene College were the materials
which he had prepared to explain and justify his career.
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From the walls of the Admiralty, of the Royal Society, of
his College at Cambridge, the stern old face of the great
Secretary looked down as though angrily seeking a champion
to challenge the legend of amorous buffoon and gossip
created by the publication of his Diary. He found one in a
brilliant Cambridge scholar, the late Dr J. R. Tanner, who
devoted thirty years of his life to expounding to the twentieth
century what the eighteenth had deliberately forgotten and
the nineteenth had never known, that Pepys had created the
English naval machine which ultimately gave his country
the dominion of the seas and the empire of more than a
quarter of the world.

Dr Tanner died with the greater part of his task unfinished,
for the very magnitude of the materials Pepys left behind him
hid their true importance. Yet his work on the naval manu-
scripts in the Pepys Library provided a foundation of solid
knowledge of Pepys’ official career—from 1673 to 1678 in
detail ang from 1684 to 1688 in outline—to which historians
will always remain indebted. At the time of his death, Dr
Tanner was engaged on a still greater task, inherited from
his fellow-scholar, H. B. Wheatley—the preparation of a
full and definitive life of Pepys that should establish him in
his place as one of the first Englishmen of his age.

What Dr Tanner was prevented by death from performing
became my task sixteen years ago. In Samuel Pepys: The Man
in the Making, re ubliszed by Messrs Collins last year, I
covered the crowscd and familiar background of the Di
years. What I had not envisaged when I began my wor
was that the material for the remaining thirty-three years of
Pepys’ life would prove, not less, but more extensive.
Instead of being able to complete his biography in two
volumes it has taken me three to carry the story as far as 1689,
with a further and final volume still to come.
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When I began work on the post-Diary period, almost all
that was known of the second half of Pepys’ life was con-
tained in Dr Tanner’s three volumes of correspondence
from the Pepys-Cockerell archives, in his five published
volumes of naval papers from Magdalene College, Cam-
bridge, and in Dr R. G. Howarth’s Letters and the Second
Diary of Samuel Pepys, embodying the earlier publications of
the Rev. J. Smith and Lord Braybrooke. For the fourteen
years covered by this volume the unknown material has far
exceeded the known. The greater part of it has come from
Pepys’s unsorted papers wEich affcr his death, instead of
going to Magdalene College, passed into private hands and
were ultimately bequeathed to the Bodleian Library by the
eighteenth-century collector, Dr Richard Rawlinson. Their
bulk and anarchical arrangement or rather lack of arrange-
ment—in contrast to the perfect order of Pepys’s Magdalene
College manuscripts—explains why the details of the extra-
ordinary and dramatic story of Pepys’ part in the so-called
Popish Plot remained so long unEnown. Piecing together
from these papers the tale of his duel with Shaftesbury and
the gangster, Scott, was like tracing the story of an un-
detected crime from clue to clue. In pursuit of it I was
enabled to discover, among Pepys’ bound papers in Mag-
dalene College, new and hitherto unknown Pepysian
journals or diaries, one written by himself and the other by a
member of Scott’s gang ac his instance. Both have been used
in this book.

Since the latter was first published in 193§ much that it
describes, then remote from our age, has become familiar to
us. A great city in ruins and devastated by fire, a society
living in suspicion and fear, men beaten up and tortured for
their political opinions, the use of mob incitement, faked
evidence and partisan denunciation under the forms of law
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are phenomena with which we have all grown a great deal
more familiar than we used to be. The strange story con-
tained in the second half of this book may seem, therefore,
a licele less strange today than it did in 1935.

ARTHUR BRYANT
Rapsgate
January 1948



Introduction

A

The Mid-Restoration Scene

——— ——

The London to which Pepys returned from his foreign
holiday in the autumn of 1669 and on which three weeks
later his wife was to close her eyes for the Jast time was the
London that men were rebuilding after the Fire. Already in
that dismal desert of calcined stone and ashes, where over
thirteen thousand houses had been burnt, innumerable islands
of scaffolding were rising from the rubble lines of the familiar
streets. Yet a man could still stand in Cheapside and gaze
through bare ruins at the boats on the River and the wooded
Surrey slopes beyond. Everywhere were wastes, dotted with
wretched huts and cabins of board and canvas and gaunt
skeletons of burnt churches. Over all towered the open roof
and glassless windows of old St Paul’s, its beautiful portico
rent in pieces.

This devastated area, into which the Londoner passed as he
came out of the populous streets of Tower Hill or left the
prosperous western faubourgs at Temple Bar, was the key-
note of more than a decade of English history. It was the
perpetual reminder of all that England had suffered within
the memory of man—of Plague, Fire and the shameful sound
of Dutch guns on the Medway. To the plain citizen it spelt
a legend of nightmarish fears, of Popes and red Cardinals,
Priests and foreign dragoons threatening stake, massacre and
wooden shoes to the free Protestant people of old England.
And when a new city of warm-coloured brick and pleasant,

BP Il X



2 INTRODUCTION [1669

ordered streets had banished the ruins, the legend persisted.
On the wall of the house in Pudding Lane that arose on the
site where the Fire began, the Lord Mayor of the most
bigoted city in the world inscribed the words:

Here by the permission of Heaven Hell broke loose upon this
Protestant City from the malicious hearts of barbarous papists.

The words epitomised the political feelings of a generation.

No man can understand that generation or the difficulty
of ruling it who does not understand its fears. Popery was
the bugbear with which English children were brought up
by their mothers and nurses; it was a terror they never out-
grew. They learnt their religion from the crude woodcuts of
Protestants burning at the stake in Foxe’s Book of Martyrs
and their history from tales of the Massacre of St Bartholo-
mew, Gunpowder Plot and the Irish Rebellion of "41. The
Great Fire of 1666 was to them a further page in that blood-
stained mythology, and the next—some gruesome Popish
Plot of assassination, midnight massacre and invasion—might
be turned by a devilish hand at any moment. :

The Princes who ruled over this people did not share their
fears. King Charles I and his brother, James, were the chil-
dren of a French Catholic princess and of an Anglican King
of exceptional tolerance. In their exiled youth they had
enjoyed for many years the hospitality of the two great
Catholic powers, France and Spain, and had received from
their own Catholic subjects the most conspicuous loyalty: to
the latter King Charles owed his life. They could, therefore,
feel liedle hostility towards the professors of a Faith in which
all but two of their own ancestors had been bred. Yet their
people expected them to hate Catholics as they did them-
selves and to enforce the brutal laws against them that dis-
graced the Statute book. When they showed reluctance to do
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so, they were themselves suspected of Popery. James, Duke
of York, in the obstinacy of his proud nature, became first a
concealed and then an open Catholic; his brother the King,
a thousand times more shrewd and cunning, tried for ten
years to introduce a national scheme of toleration and, when
his angry subjects refused it, turned to a secret alliance with
his cousin of France to provide it.

Yet the France, which Pepys visited in 1669 with such de-
light and wonder and with whose King his master a few
months later concluded the Secret Treaty of Dover, was be-
coming a terror to the ordinary Englishman second only to
Popery. The feeling was a new one: for a century past France
had been the traditional friend of England, and even the
Puritan champion, Cromwell, had followed the policy of
Elizabeth and sought her alliance. But with the manhood
of Louis XIV the whole scene had changed. His boundless
ambition, his autocratic ideals of government and the grow-
ing bigotry of his Catholicism struck at the deepest political
feelings of the English—at their jealousy of foreigners, their
hatred of despotism and their fear of Popery. And by
threatening the Low Countries and starting to build a great
Navy he wounded these feelings still deeper.

For that freedom of the trade of the narrow seas on which
England had always depended for her principal source of
wealth was jeopardised. In the past the very extent of that
trade had been its own protection; till the days of Elizabeth
the merchants of England had only to man and gun their
ships to defend them. But the seventeenth century had
scen the specialisation of the fighting ship, and no merchant-
man, however large, could any longer hold her place in the
line of battle. In the last resort the Royal Navy could alone
defend the nation’s trade. And the same century saw the
creation, first by Holland then by France, of two rival Navies,
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occupying the whole opposing coastline of those narrow seas
through which England’s trade passed. To fight the Dutch at
sea, the arbitrary and all-powerful government of the Com-
monwealth had taxed England to the bone, and the royal
administration of the Restoration, dependent on a close-
pursed and suspicious Parliament, had brought itself to the
verge of bankruptcy. Yet the Dutch Navy remained, a
standing menace to Britain’s trade, and now a French Navy
of equal or greater strength was fast growing up.

Here also King Charles was at variance with his people.
To his clear, practical mind, backed by a knowledge both
of Europe and the Navy greater than that of any of his
Ministers, the immediate need of England was to destroy
Holland. The sea power of France, whatever it might become
in the future, was still only a gigantic shadow, for the French
lacked the practical skill in seamanship of his own people and
the Dutch. That France was Catholic and French did not
disturb him for, unlike his subjects, he objected to neither
of these attributes. Nor did he feel any jealousy of French
ambitions on land, so long as he was free to pursue his
own by sea. For beneath his easy, pleasure-loving exterior,
Charles was quite as much an imperialist as his great pre-
decessor. Trade and all that belonged to it—and that included
colonies—he perceived to be the essential need of a com-
mercial people. In his reign the real foundations of the British
Empire were laid. And behind the Secret Treaty of Dover lay
not, what his subjects came to suppose, the Catholicisation
of England by a foreign army, but a scheme even wilder
and more grandiose, the partition of the Dutch and Spanish
Empires and the cession of their vast oversecas dominions
to the English Crown.

But these imperial schemes—and more than Charles yet
realised—were dominated by the realities of the English
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domestic situation. A rough people, accustomed to govern-
ing themselves both in their parliaments and in their local
communities, absorbed in their own affairs, and invincibly
suspicious of new ideas, was committed to the rule of one
of the quickest and most original minds in Europe, already
suspect to them on account of religion. From the time of
Clarendon’s fall in 1667, when the King took over the real
government of the country, until the final years of his reign,
when steed and rider had learnt to respect each other’s metal,
a duel of wit against brute force was waged between ruler
and ruled. In that duel it was Pepys’ lot to play an important
and at times far from comfortable part.

The duel was intensified by the anachronisms of the
English administrative and financial system. The innate con-
servatism of the race had preserved the ancient machinery of
government long after the social and economic structure
which it had served had passed away. The Crown, as in the
Middle Ages, was still expected to maintain the essential ser-
vices of government out of its semi-private, hereditary in-
come. These services having grown out of all measure with
the development of the nation, and their expenses with the
fall in the value of money, this was no longer possible. But
the theory and the popular expectation survived. The extra
grants with which Parliament built up the royal revenue
were voted grudgingly and in the teeth of faction, and
seemed to the general public wildly extravagant. In point
of fact they were nearly always inadequate. During the
firse twelve years of the reign the ordinary revenue of the
government was some 25 per cent. less than the annual sum
which Parliament itself had estimated as necessary to main-
tain the administration. In war time the disproportion
between necessary expenditure and supply was far greater.
Debt, delayed payments, crazy credit and exorbitant interest
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were consequently the familiar burdens of English state
officials.

To this must be added the fact that the growth in the
national services and their necessary expenditure had proved
altogether too much for the elementary public morality of
the people. The government departments, particularly in
their lower branches, were by modemn standards incon-
ceivably corrupt. The Crown, to which all paid exaggerated
lip-service, was regarded as fair game for every kind of cheat
and theft. Its servants stole the very cordage and canvas off
the King’s ships and sold them back to the Dockyards as new.
The wastage in this way was incalculable. Moreover, it was
almost impossible to prevent. What system of check there
was in the departments was nullified by the fact that the
salaries of most officials were years in arrears. His Majesty’s
property was perpetually and mysteriously passing into the
possession of his subjects, a possession which it was almost
impossible to make them relinquish. And public opinion
was solidly on the side of the cheater. When an honest Dock-
yard Official visited the blacksmith’s shop at Cawsham to
scize on eight iron bolts stolen from the royal stores, he was
beaten on the head and imprisoned by the villagers. As there
was no police force, and as the King’s attempts to maintain
a standing army met with the fiercest disapproval, public
administration in the later seventeenth century presented
ceaseless difficulties. They were most marked in the Navy
where Pepys’ lot was cast, and which was by far the greatest
of the spending departments.

All this provided constant matter for criticism from a
Parliament of high-spirited and active country gentlemen,
whose principal constitutional duty besides the provision of
supply was the redress, by petition or legislation, of griev-
ances. These last they found everywhere and advertised
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roundly. A committee of five hundred, divorced from exe-
cutive responsibility and assembled to criticise, could scarcely
fail to be factious.
There remain the actors for whom this stage was set. The
icty that was the apex of Restoration England has since
become a byword for vice and cynical wit. Yet it is doubt-
ful whether it was more vicious in practice than any other
exclusive and privileged society; those born above the fear
of poverty, punishment and criticism are seldom restrained
in their moral behaviour. Where Restoration society was
peculiar was in its unblushing acceptance of unmoral con-
duct, where distinguished in its very real intellectual capacity.
Men who could write poems like Rochester and Buckhurst
and plays and letters like Etherege and Harry Savile were no
mere debauchees. Uniting the whole society of the Court
and capital ran the live wire of an alert and enquiring mental
virility: there was mind in it. One June day in 1669, the
profligate Duke of Buckingham, the merchant John Clayton,
Christopher Wren and Edmund Waller, the poet, rode up
to London from Denham; they stopped to dine at Uxbridge,
where, Clayton wrote, was *“nothing but quintessence of wit
and most excellent discourse”. On the fringes of that society
stood virtuosos like Pepys and Evelyn, philosophers like
Boyle and mighty artists like Dryden and Purcell. It laid the
foundations of the eighteenth century, paved the way for
toleration, revolutionised taste and manners, and left behind
it St Paul’s, the Principia and the Royal Society. Yet to the
nation as a whole, slow moving and traditionalist in its rustic
part, Puritan in its urban, and suspicious in both, that ven-
turesome and enquiring society was suspect from the start.
Over it, giving it pattem and unity, presided the King.
He was a wit, a virtuoso and a man of affairs, and had one of
the keenest minds that ever inférmed a throne. His morals
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and his shameless parade of them were at one with his Court,
and his middleclass subjects, though their own coarseness of
.}pcech and habit little entitled them to cast stones at the
ormer (which they none the less did), felt the reproach of
the latter very keenly. The wits and libellers, who were
mostly like Rochester of the same moral ilk as the King him-
sclf, made great play of this public feeling of reprobation—

Most say the steed’s a goodly thing,
But all agree ’tis a lewd king—

while restless politicians used the expense of the royal
mistresses* and bastards (for Charles was unusually generous
to those who shared his favourite sins) as arguments for with-
holding supplics from his government. They failed to point
out that these living witnesses of the royal indulgence, how-
ever irregular they might appear, were less expensive than
would have been the normal brood of princes and princesses
of the Blood Royal had the King been blessed with children.

But he was not, and herein lay the crux of the politics of
the rest of the reign. By his side stood a childless Queen and
a Papist successor. Already a suspected, and soon to be a pro-
fessed Catholic, James, Duke of York was the chief liability
of the government. To his unfortunate predilection in re-
ligion—and in the existing state of public opinion nothing

* This exaggeration has been more than maintained by nineteenth-
and twenticth~century historians. A classic example is that of the editor
of certain official accounts published by a learned Society, who lumped
all the sums paid to one ok?:hc royal mistresses over a period of many
years and calmly announced in his preface that the total so obtained was
an annual sum paid to the lady—an error in elementary mathematics
cheerfully copicd by a whole generation of historians who read the pre-
face but never examined the figures. A more ingenuous and therefore
less misleading example is to be found in the Preface of a recent volume
of the Navy Records Society.
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could have been more unfortunate—he added the defects of
his character. For where Charles was shrewd, pliant and
good-humoured, James was obtuse, obstinate and morose.
Those who opposed his views he regarded as evil men rooted
in wickedness to be punished whenever the chance should
offer. As an administrator he was capable, honest and in-
dustrious—virtues rare in the administration of the age that
won him Pepys’ unswerving admiration and loyalty. Asa
military and naval commander he had proved himself a brave
man and had enjoyed a considerable measure of success. But
as a politician he was beneath contempt, for he could never
understand the motives or anticipate the actions of others.
To most men he scemed a sinister and dangerous figure,
threatening the future religion and liberty of the nation; to
some who knew him intimately like Buckingham and his
brilliant lieutenant, Ashley, he was a fool as well, —*“Ninny”’,
the great oof, whom a ridiculous Providence had placed in
the succession of the English throne.

As the King would neither divorce his Queen nor tamper
with the lawful succession—and in this whatever his own in-
clinations and their political desires of the moment might be,
he proved himself in the long run at one with the enduring
instincts of the majority of his subjects—the Opposition to
the government tended to centre round those who were
determined at all costs to achicve James’ removal.

That Opposition was comprised of many elements—of old
republicans who remembered the great days of Cromwell
and of new ones who fancied their own chances of ambition
or revenge in the melting pot of Civil War and Revolu-
tion, of the whole Nonconformist community who, though
frequently offered a friendly hand by their tolerant sove-
reign, were oppressed by the Anglican majority, of the sons
of ruined Cavaliers who felt thac the Crown had betrayed
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them because it had been unable to restore their fathers’
broken fortunes, of the unco’ guid who hated the vices and
pleasures of the Court, of restless politicians and independent
country gentlemen who could not brook any government,
and of all restless, mutinous, dissatisfied spirits. Behind them
stood the general body of the nation who feared Popery,
hated tyranny and liked to avoid taxation.

In 1669 the great man who was to lead this incongruous
alliance, give it unity and forge it in the heat of his own fiery
spirit into a potent weapon that all but destroyed the ancient
throne, was still on the side of the government. Anthony
Ashley Cooper, first Lord Ashley, was at 48 one of the inner
Cabal who in popular estimation controlled the policy of the
Crown. Soon he was to be Earl of Shaftesbury and Lord
Chancellor of England. Yet already, like his ally Buckingham,
he was in alliance with the strongest of the diverse elements
that comprised the Opposition—the Nonconformists by
whose side he had stood in the old days of Civil War and
Interregnum.

An oligarch by birth and temperament—a Venetian of the
Venetians—"“the great little Lord” was the true founder of
the Whig party. Under popular forms he was consistent
throughout his career in extending the privileges and freedom
of his class for whose vigorous virtues and talents he had a
genuine enthusiasm.* Like his predecessor, *“King” Pym,
he knew how to rouse the mob and appeal by rough bon-
homie or pious phrase, as occasion demanded, to honest
Smug the joiner and Mr Precisian, the Puritan merchant.
Yet in his own Dorset he enclosed commons and rode rough-
shod over the rights of his poorer neighbours, while his
facility with women was only equalled by that of his sove~

* See his wonderful description of old Squire Hastings of Woodlands
in his fragment of autobiography.
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reign.* One of the most familiar figures of the London under-
world was an old deformed knight, who was popularly
known as Lord Shaftesbury’s groom because he was always
watering his Lordship’s mares in Hyde Park on Rhenish wine
and sugar, with not seldom a bait of chocolate. Yet this was
the man who aligned under his banner the persecuted saints
of the Nonconformist churches and the high republican
zealots. A free-thinker himself, the friend of Locke and
Marvell, the “litde limping peer” understood better than
any one living how to fan to cruel fanaticism the simple faith
and credulity of his age.

On all he did rested the light of genius. From his very
suffering—for the last twenty-four years of life he endured

. the constant pain of a suppurating internal cyst—he distilled
acid that could dissolve the bonds of state and

cast the kingdoms old
into another mould.

And to the crazy tune his curled and fastidious lips piped,
England, and Mr Pepys with her, were soon to dance.

* “Here comes”, Charles is reputed to have said in the hearing of
Shaftesbury as he passed before him with mace and seal, *“the greatest
whoremaster in England.” “Of a subject, sire,” the Earl replied.
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Chapter I

The Second Diary

— — ]

“ And, therefore, resolve, from this time forward, to have it kept by my
people in longhand, and must therefore be contented to set down no more
than is fit for them and all the world to know.” Diary, May 31st, 1669.

On Wednesday, November 10th, 1669, Mrs Pepys lay dead
in the comely house in Seething Lane which she and her hus-
band had lived in and loved for nine crowded years. But,
though half his heart lay buried for ever with the beautiful,
jealous, foolish creature to whom he had given it, Samuel
had little leisure to mourn her. Even before her body could
be laid in earth beneath the stones of the church across the
street and her virtues commemorated in his own flowing
Latin on the wall facing the gallery where she had once sat
so proudly beside him, he was writing as even he had never
written. For almost on the day of his return he had been
called upon to face the most serious attack he had known on
his work and office.’

While Samuel Pepys and his *“dear and virtuous lady”’ had
been spending their two happy, crowded months of sight-
seeing in France and Flanders, the Duke of Buckingham and
the politicians who followed in his erratic train had been
pressing home their intrigue against the Heir Presumptive and
the more sober servants of the Crown, whose influence on
the King they resented and whose offices they coveted. The
key objective of their attack was the Navy Office, through
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whose misdeeds they hoped to bring down Lord Sandwich
and the Duke. And the Navy Office was an easy target, for
in the public eye it was associated with the humiliation of the
Medway and the supposed misappropriation of the monies
voted for the Dutch Wars.?

But there was one obstacle against which the attackers had
to contend—the knowledge, ability and tenacity of the Clerk
of the Acts. In nine years the junior of the seven Principal
Officers and Commissioners, who had taken over the ad-
ministration of the Navy at the Restoration, had by industry
and force of character made his position the most important
in the Service. During his absence in France his colleagues had
staved off the enquiries of the Parliamentary Commissioners
of Accounts, who for the past two years had been investi-
gating the miscarriages of the war, by replying that nothing
could be done till his return. Nor could it, for of those who
had been in office with him during the War, none but
the dilettante mathematician and courtier Lord Brouncker,
and the senile Comptroller, Sir John Mennes, remained.
Pepys alone could meet the storm that was threatening the
Navy.3

Therefore, as soon as he got back to England, he sat down,
without even consulting his colleagues, to draft a reply to the
Commissioners’ charges. There was no time to be lost, for
the longer their accusations remained unanswered, the more
assured country and Parliament would be of their truth. The
election, which he had formerly sought with such eagerness
at Aldeburgh, he relinquished without even the interven-
uon of a personal canvass. For the very essentials of his ex-
istence were threatened, and every moment of his time was
needed. Within little over a month from his return and
only a fortnight after Elizabeth’s death, his Answer was
completed.*
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It was a magnificent achievement. The Commissioners of
Accounts had collected their accusations under eighteen
heads—*‘a parcel of observations”’, as Pepys contemptuously
described them—charging the Navy Office among other sins
and omissions with failure to supervise subordinate officers,
corrupt purchase of goods at excessive prices and favouritism
to contractors. In a document of fifty folio sheets Pepys re-
plied with clear categorical answers that are masterpieces of
administrative argument. That there had been breaches of
duty by subordinate officers, he admitted, but contended
that their superiors could only be charged with what it was
within human power to prevent. “For what concerns the
Storckeepers not observing any order of time in their entries
of provisions received”’, he added with biting sarcasm, “give
me leave to obscrve that the Officers of the Navy being in-
capable as a body to be present at the delivery of all stores,
a particular officer is appointed by his Majesty and the Lord
High Admiral by the tide of Clerk of the Cheque. If”, he
added, “your Lordships’ meaning. . .differ not from what
the plain construction of the terms they here run in seems to
discover, I beg I may without offence confess my present in-
ability to discern the cogency of the said conclusions.”* And
in the same grimly efficient manner Pepys dealt with the
charge that the Navy Office had bought goods at excessive
prices: thanks to Parliamentary parsimony the goods had had
to be obtained on credit at more than the market price or not
at all, each vendor, as he said, being “resolved to save him-
self in the uncertainty of his payments by the greawmness of his

rice”.5
F The graver charge of direct corruption Pepys met with
that proud and unyielding scorn which he always reserved
for such impertinences. The Officers of the Navy, he de-
* Pepysian MS. No. 2554.
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clared, could challenge the whole world to prove one in-
stance of their ordering payment for the smallest parcel of
unserviceable goods which had not been certified ‘as fit by
the officer responsible. Whatever fault there may have been
in port or dock, the Navy Office was above reproach. Such
was the tenour of Pepys’ defence, and so closely was it argued
and so amply supported by extracts from past instructions
and contracts—"not neglecting therein”, he informed his
inquisitors, *“‘the faithfullest helps I could obtain from
memory, papers or books,”—that the Commissioners were
left with no other choice but that of being proved either
knaves or fools.

Pepys could scarcely have chosen a surer way of making
enemies. Already there was a widespread feeling that the
self<important, bright-eyed little man, who displayed so
many treasures in his house in Seething Lane and drove
abroad in a gilded coach with fine black horses, had not grown
prosperous merely by upright conduct. It was not without
significance that the name of Sir William Warren, the great
timber merchant to whom six years before he had given his
first government contract, figured so frequently in the Com-~-
missioners’ charges. Nor, perhaps, had Pepys himself for-
gotten that among the plate, which he loved to show his
guests, were the fair state dish and cup of silver, engraved
with his arms, which Sir William had sent him one February
morning in a box of gloves addressed to Elizabeth—*a very
noble present,” it then had seemed, “and the best I ever had
yet”’. That was long ago, and he was conscious that he had
not done any ill thing to deserve it. None the less he had
taken office a poor man, with only £150 to his name, and
now, nine years later, he cannot have been worth much less
than £10,000—a sum at least five times as much in the money

of to~day.
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But Pepys was no longer afraid. A year before, when
threatened with attack, he had contemplated resignation,
now his defence had become counter-attack. A fine and
stinging irony ran through his Answer to the politicians who
had libelled him and his Office. He had drunk of a bitter cup
and had grown bolder. Probably at no time in his cautious
and far-seeing career did he write with greater scorn for
material consequences.

On Thursday, November 25th, secing that his Answer,
then almost finished, was good, Pepys gave warning to the
Commissioners of its early arrival—"on Saturday or Mon-
day morning next at the furthest”’—and cxplained the motives
which had caused him, ex officio, to take upon his shoulders
the defence, not of himself alone, but of the whole Office.
Nor did he fail, with effect damning in its restraint, to stress
the difficulties under which he had laboured, telling them
how he had answered their litany of complaints not only
while the other parts of his Majesty’s service called for his
daily attendance, but during *“the sorrowful interruption
lately given me by the sickness and death of my wife”.

He was as good as his word, for on the Saturday his task
was done. In a further long letter to the Commissioners he
explained in his stateliest language how he had made it his
care “to consider by what expedient your Lordships might
(without delay) receive a competent view of the satisfaction
to be expected from the Officers of the Navy, without pre-
judice to what answers more perfect you may hereafter. . .be
offered by the said Officers”’—though this, being better ac-
quainted with them than the Commissioners, he must have
known would be never. And on Monday, having read his
Answer over in turn to the Duke of York, Lord Brouncker,
and his former patron Sir William Coventry, whose advice
he had taken throughout the whole troublesome business, he
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took a fair copy of it to Brooke House in Holborn, where the
Commission sat, and left it with the Clerk and his honest old
acquaintance, Will Symons, with whom in the days when
they were both young government employees he had been
wont to drink at Harper’s.?

Meanwhile to his annoyance Pepys had discovered that
another of his colleagues had written a paper, full not with
details of the Navy Board’s past conduct but with vague
criticisms of its present constitution. The culprit was Lord
Brouncker, the virtuoso who presided over the infant Royal
Society and whose neighbouring company and that of his
mistress, Lady Williams, Pepys sometimes shared of an
evening. During his absence abroad Brouncker had
secretly employed Pepys’ favourite clerk, Richard Gibson, to
write down his views on the government of the Navy, and
had subsequently conveyed them through his scientific friend,
Sir Robert Moray, to the King. This was the kind of thing
which was always disturbing the flow of routine under the
old system of personal rule, and, though sometimes for good
ends he practised it himself, it never failed to arouse Pepys’
fury. To Brouncker, caught out in his litte attempt to pro-
cure favour for himself at Court, he administered an un-
answerable rebuke. It was eight years since he had first begun
to assert his official rights against Sir William Penn and Bat-
ten, and he had no intention of allowing a man with half his
experience and a tenth of his industry to cheat him of his
clear right of viewing every document that issued from his
Office. And in dealing with his collcague, he gave a far
homelier account of his Department’s activities than that with
which he confronted the Commissioners of Accounts. He
was no enemy, he told him, to that great work of regulating
the Office but, he added, “your Lordship cannot be less
sensible than myself that the past and present failures of this
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Office are not so much chargeable on the defects of its theory
as the infirmities of the hands entrusted with the practise
thereof ”. The dirty linen which he would not wash in
public, he pressed firmly and irresistibly to Lord Brouncker’s
nose.

It was not in that nobleman’s easy nature to be angry for
long nor in Pepys’ to press home an advantage so easily won.
The two soon forgot their differences in their alliance against
a common foe. Here there was no question of Pepys’ right
to lead and initiate: none of his colleagues had any desire
to deprive him of that. On his ready shoulders not they
only, but greater ones, laid in haste the burden of their
defence.®

During the second week of December the House of Com-
mons called for the Report of the Committee of Public
Accounts, and, urged on by Buckingham’s licutenants, fell
“with exceeding great fury and severity” on Sir George
Carteret. Though to the few who troubled to study the
evidence there did not appear to be any real grounds
against Sir George, the Commissioners’ insinuations enabled
his enemies to carry a vote for his suspension from the
House.

To save him the King prorogued Parliament till February.
Six days later, he announced that, as he had received a specific
Report against the Navy Office, he would himself hear both
sides, and would start with the examination of Carteret’s case
at the Council Board on the following Monday.

To this Pepys was summoned in person. Thus mercifully
the first Christmas after Elizabeth’s death was charged with
excitement. And as day followed day in the gilded Council
Chamber, the Clerk of the Acts managed to make himself as
acceptable to his royal master as he made himself unpopular
with the critics of his government. The tall dark King, who
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six months before had spoken kindly to him and expressed
such concen for the recovery of his eyes, was amused to hear
the litcle official, whose ability he had already apprised, con-
tradicting the pompous Commissioners and answering their
vague generalisations with a mass of detailed facts, which
apparently he had ac will in his head or drew on from the
well-kept books of memoranda at his side. The Cheshire
magnate who was wont to preside over the proceedings of
Brooke House with all the bucolic omnipotence of a Chair-
man of Quarter Sessions,* was only restrained from violent
courses by the royal presence. ““When the Lord Brereton”,
Pepys recorded, ““did once or twice take occasion to stop me
in my discourses I ever replied that what I was doing was in
obedience to the King’s command, and therein appealing to
his Majesty, he did always answer for me to my Lord
Brereton that he had called upon me to speak and thereupon
commanded me to proceed.”?

For once again Pepys was keeping a journal. Six months
before, when his fears for his eyes had made him close his
shorthand diary, he had recorded his resolve to have it kept
henceforward by his clerks in long-hand, setting down in it
no more than was fi¢ for them and all the world to know,
and should there be anything else of a more private nature
(which, at that moment of depression, he felt unlikely), adding
a shorthand note in his own hand in the margin. Now for
two months he kept a detailed journal of his defence of the
Navy Office before the King and Council. The fair copy of
it, written in a clerk’s hand, covers a hundred and twenty

* Pcpys’ old friend, Captain Ferrers, attending the Committee on Lord
Sandwich’s behalf a few months before, described the Chairman as
opening his examinations “after two or three lofty looks and wallowings
in his Chair"” with a “Sir, you are onc of my Lord’s Gentlemen.”
Hinchingbroke MSS., Sandwich Journal x, 38 et seq.
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folio pages of one of the Miscellany volumes of his library.*
Its value lies in the fact that it supplies the one thing lacking
in the great Diary, which stops at the moment when Pepys
first began to become a figure of national importance. It pro-
vides a record of his association with the King and the chief
men of his day. On its far smaller scale it is almost as im-
portant a political document as its predecessor is a social one.*®

The new year of 1670 opens with Pepys, as mirrored in
this all too brief journal, in daily contact with the great. On
January 3rd he was asked by Sir George Downing to draw
up an answer to the now universally believed accusation that
over half a million voted by Parliament for the Dutch War
had been diverted to other ends. It was a sign that the King
had recognised his outstanding ability, for the defence of the
general financial conduct of the Crown was far above the
ordinary scope of a Clerk of the Acts. On the same day in
consultation with Carteret and the chief Treasury Officials
Pepys ran over the detailed particulars, taking minutes of
them and secretly wondering to find a business of this
magnitude so little studied and understood.}

* A Journal of what passed between the Commissioners of Accounts
and myself at the Council Board.” It was first mentioned by the late
Dr J. R. Tanner in the first volume of his Dgscriptive Catalogue of the
Naval Manuscripts in the Pepysian Library published in 1903 and again in
his Bibliotheca Pepysiana. But, though Dr Tanner discusses at length
Pepys’ preliminary letters to the Committee, the King and the Duke of
York, contained in Pepysian MSS. 2554, he does not appear to have
examined closely the contents of the Diary itself. Pepysian MSS. 2874,
Miscellanies v1, 387 et seq. :

1 Dr'W. A. Shaw in his Introductions to his Calendars of the Treasury
Books has revealed how much of the misunderstanding of this period
has been due to the confused and illogical system of accountancy then in
use, which has concealed from historians the gross exaggerations in the

charges of extravagance and corruption brought against che government
of Chatles II by his political opponents.
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Next morning, having spent the night in mastering his
brief, he was conducted from the Treasury into the King’s
presence. Here the greatest men in the country were as-
sembled—the Duke of York, the Lord Keeper, the Duke
of Ormonde and both Secretaries of State. After a long dis-
cussion as to how the matter should be managed, the King
concluded by laying the conduct of it on Pepys.

But in the Council Chamber there was an anticlimax. For
none of the Commissioners of Accounts appeared but old
Lord Brereton, who announced that their chief authority on
naval matters, a Boanerges named Colonel Thomson who
was always harping on the administrative virtues of the
Commonwealth days when he himself had held a lucrative
but not very distinguished employment at the Admiralty,
had been taken ill and had gone home. The rest of them,
his Lordship explained, relied for their naval knowledge
entirely on the far back and now almost legendary ex-
periences of the Colonel. The Council thercfore adjourned
till next day.

The Colonel having by then overcome his indisposition,
the King opened the proceedings by observing that though
the Commissioners had admitted in one of their private
papers that the disputed /£ 514,000 had been laid out on the
Navy, their public Report to Parliament had merely stated
that it had been used for other purposes than the War and so
deluded the country into believing that it had been diverted,
as Pepys, recording the scene, put it, *“to uses of pleasure or
other private respects of his Majesty”. After their discom-
fiture had been still further increased by a reminder that they
had also admitted that the King had not only spent the dis-
puted £ 514,000 on the War but another /300,000 out of his
private purse, Pepys was ordered to comment generally on
their Report. This he did with damning effect, flacly con-
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tradicting them on two material points, one being their as-
sumption that the War accounts could only be reckoned from
September Ist, 1664. Money spent before that date in fitting
out the Fleet, Pepys pointed out, was just as much expended
on the War as that incurred later. At this Lord Brereton
could not contain himself, observing that he wondered that
any single Officer of the Navy should dare to take it upon
himself to construe an Act of Parliament contrary to the
judgment of the Commissioners appointed by that Act. But
Pepys’ new-found boldness was not to be snuffed out.
“I replied”, he recorded proudly, “that I looked upon this
Act like all other statutes penned for the information and
therefore to the understanding of every commoner, and that
therefore as an Englishman and as one of the principals con-
cerncd therein I did challenge a right of delivering my sense
of it.”*

A litde later, while Pepys was proving the illogicality of
another assumption of the Commissioners, he was again
stopped, Brereton furiously interposing that “he did believe
that the gentleman would not say what he had now said in
another place. Which”, Pepys noted in his Journal, “being an
insolence more reflective on the honour of his Majesty and
that Board than myself, I silently suffered to pass, expecting
that the King would have taken notice ot it”.

But Charles II, being wiser than Pepys, refrained. None
the less he was obviously delighted at his little champion’s
boldness, and afterwards, while he dined, called him his
Advocate and made much sport of Lord Brereton’s manner
and of his cight brethren’s dismay at being corrected in the
construction of their own lesson. And when at dinner next
day Pepys, who on waking had felt a little abashed at his own
temerity, craved the royal pardon for his overbold per-

* Pepysian MSS. 2874, Miscellanies v1, 390-1.
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formance, his Majesty replied that he had behaved to his
perfect satisfaction, thanked him repeatedly for the trouble
he had taken and expressed nothing but resentment at Lord
Brereton’s ill manners.

There then ensued a delicious scene, Pepys following up
the conversation, as the King resumed his dinner, by humbly
advising him (and here Pepys must be allowed to tell his own
story) ““to consider by what ways. . . (if possible, which I ex-
pressed my doubt of and therein was seconded both by his
Majesty and the rest) to rectify the opinions of the world
occasioned by this Report of these gentlemen that his
Majesty had employed to his private uses of pleasure etc., not
only the /514,000 here mentioned but near £300,000 more
in the monies applied to the Ordnance and Guards. Here
my Lord Arlington took occasion to put his Majesty in mind
of what (as he said) he had the last night advised his Majesty;
viz: that his Majesty would please to cause the substance of
this discourse to be put into writing, and that therefore, as he
did believe that Mr Pepys was the best informed of any man
to do his Majesty this service, so (he added) that though Mr
Pepys was by, yet he should not refrain to say that his style
was excellent and the fittest to perform this work; though he
would have it recommended to him to study the laying it
down with all possible plainness and with the least show of
rhetoric that he could, which motion the King embraced and
laid it upon me as a matter much importing him”.* It must
have been a proud man who returned to the lonely house in
Seething Lane that evening. But the delicate flattery of the
King's old friend and Minister had not altogether quenched
angry thoughts of the gentlemen of Brooke House. “I went
home”, the day’s entry concluded, ““full of intentions to send
aletter to my Lord Brereton testifying a due resentment of his

* Miscellanies v1, 392-3.
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yesterday’s challenge in his Majesty’s presence, . . .but upon
second thoughts suspended it until I had seen further.”

Having received a check in their attack on Carteret and
the Crown, the Commissioners were forced to turn their
attention to Pepys’ Answer to their Observations, which till
now they had contrived to ignore. On January 6th Pepys had
followed it up by another Memorial, “‘a particular defence”,
as he entitled it, “of my own single conduct. . .in diligence
of my attendance, effects of my performance and upright-
ness”’. It was a tale of almost unbelievable righteousness,
of “integrity to my master and fair dealing towards those
whom his service hath led me to have to do with”, of
defiance to “the whole world to allege one instance to the
prejudice of the same”, of “having the comfort of being
able to affirm that my conscience in its strictest retrospec-
tions charges me not with any wilful declension of my
duty”.* Its effect on the already infuriated Commissioners
can be imagined.

Its interest to posterity lies in its allusion to the great Diary.
“Such”, Pepys wrote, ‘“have ever been my apprehensions
both of the duty and importance of my just attendance on
his Majesty’s service that among the many thousands under
whose observation my employment must have placed me,
I challenge any man to assign one day from my first ad-
mission to this service, in July 1660 to the determination of
the War, August 1667, (being a complete apprenticeship), of
which I am not at this day able upon oath to give an account
of the particular manner of my employing the same.” “No
concernments”’, he went on, “relating to my private fortune,
pleasure or health did at any time (even under the terror of
the plague itsclf) divide me one day and night from my at-
tendance on the business of my place.” Otherwise, he might

* Pepysian MSS. 2554.
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have, he went on, *prevented that untimely ruin of my eyes
by the constancy of their night service during the War which
renders the remainder of my life of much less content or use
to me than can be supplied by any other satisfaction than
what flows from the consideration of that duty to his Majesty
to which I sacrificed them.. ..To which let me add that in
my endeavours after a full performance of my duty, I have
neither made distinction of days between those of rest and
others, nor of hours between day and night, being less ac-
quainted during the whole war with the closing of my day’s
work before midnight than after it”’. There was, of course,
no mention of Mrs Bagwell.

But there was a great deal about Pepys’ own salary and the
modesty of his emoluments. There had been an unpleasant
reference in the Commissioners’ Observations to private
trading by Officers of the Navy, with mention of an item of
£757. 175. 53d. paid to the Clerk of the Acts in 1664 for flags
and cork which he had traded to the Service. Though, Pepys
asserted, the burden of his place was as great as that of his
colleagues’, and the inferiority of his wages to theirs due
solely to the prospective value of its perquisites, he *“did
never. . .directly or indirectly demand or express any ex-
pectation of fee, gratuity or reward from any person for any
service therein by me done or to be done him”. And he
ended with a daring lie: “in exchange for ten years’ service
and these the most valuable of my life, I find not my estate
at this day bettered by £ 1000 from all the profits, salary or
other advantages arising from my said employment beyond
what it was known to be at my admission thereto”.13

This document Pepys dcspatched to Brooke House on

* Friday, January 7th, by Will Griffen, the Navy Office mes-
senger. He then went off to dine with Sir William Coventry,
who was full of gloomy predictions of the kind of usage he
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must expect from the House of Commons for his con-
temptuous treatment of their Commissioners. “Which”,
wrote Pepys, who that day was feeling a little weary of the
whole affair, “I without much trouble did embrace the
thoughts of, as being much more willing to be at ease than
hold my employment with so much trouble as I have of long
done and must still look for, while yoked to persons who
every day make work for future censure while I am upon
tenters in their preservation from the blame due to their
failures past.” * 13

But melancholy thoughts of retirement did not prevent
Pepys from spending the weekend inditing two magnificent
letters to the King and Duke of York, dealing with the
popular belicf that the success of the First Dutch War had
been due to the administrative qualities of thrift and method.
*“So much the contrary”, he explained, *‘that whoever shall
have opportunity of taking the same leisurely view of the
management of that time, which my employment under
your Majesty has led me to, will easily concur that there ap-
pears not anything in the whole conduct of that age, to which
(under God) their success can be more duly attributed than
a steady pursuit of all means conducing thereto, both in pre-
ference and exclusion to all impediments arising from con-
siderations either of Thrift or Method.”t In other words,
the naval chiefs of the Commonwealth had been successful
precisely because they broke all their own rules and spent
money like water—the very things which Brooke House was
declaring had been the ruin of the royal Navy.'™4

Before the next meeting of the Council on Monday
morning Pepys, walking in St James’s Park with the Duke of
York, expressed a wish that Sit William Coventry, whom

* Miscellanies v1, 393.
1 Pepysian MSS. 2554. S. Pepys to the King, Jan. 8th, 1670.
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they had just passed in the Mall, might also take a part in the
defence of the Navy Office, to which the Duke replied that
it would be too much in all conscience to loose both of them
at once on the unfortunate Commissioners. His Royal High-
ness was so pleased at his joke that he repeated it to Sir
William himself when they met him at the next turn. But
Coventry answered that he thought they were all safe enough
in Pepys’ hands. Then they went up to the royal Closet,
where Pepys presented the King with a fair copy of his
General Answer to the Commissioners’ Observations and his
Particular Answer relating to himself. He even managed to
read out the letter which he had written on the previous day,
“desiring”’, he wrote, ‘“ that his Majesty would be pleased not
to look upon me as one asserting. . . there had been no failure
in our management, for failures there had been. But that. ..
the greatest of them would be found imputable to the age
and weakness of a servant, by name Sir John Mennes, who
besides the merit of having served his Royal Grandfather,
Father and himself. . . was moreover one that would be found
a gentleman of strictest integrity, and that his weakness of
both mind and body had been hastened upon him by his
labour in his Majesty’s service””.* For Pcpys had learnt to
deal with princes with the same easy assurance that in time
past had charmed the maids of Westminster Hall, and to dis-
play his loyalty to his doting old colleague the Comptroller,
in the very breath that exposed his deficiencies. ““His Majesty
was pleased to own with great kindness his well-liking of all
I had done and said, and, directing me to act accordingly, he
went forth” (one suspects, at his wonted large pace) “and so
to the Council Chamber.”

For old Mennes’ drivelling incompetence was as great a
handicap to Pepys as ever. Two days later, at a special

* Miscellanies v1, 393~4.
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examination of the Navy Officers at Brooke House, his senile’
eagerness to justify himself had proved a great embarrass-
ment, for when the Commissioners enquired in whose hands
the despatch of Warren’s accounts lay, *“Sir John Mennes
answered that it lay in his, and that he had taken much pains
therein, and employed two of the ablest accountants in
London about them, and that he had also made several ob-
jections long ago to the Account. . .and that he could never
get Sir William Warren to satisfy him therein. And so was
running on (God knows whither) when Sir William
Turner’—brother-in-law to Pepys’ cousin and old friend,
Mrs Turner of Salisbury Court—*“desired that he might have
a plain answer”. Even dictation did not always rob Pepys
of his old style.’s

On Monday, January 17th, the Council met again and
Lord Brereton rose to prove the first of his eighteen Observa-
tions about improper contracts. After he had read a paper on
Sir William Warren's contract for Gottenburg masts, Pepys
took upon himself to speak and did so at great length. Once
more he drove Lord Brereton into a towering rage and
caused a scene which ended in the Duke of York's rising to
rebuke the old gentleman for unfit language. And when the
Commissioners referred to the great charge the Crown had
been put to provide a convoy to bring the masts home, the
King reminded them (as everyone, including Pepys, had for-
gotten) that the convoy had been sent not only for his own
goods*but for those of his merchants who had specially asked
for it.

On every front Brooke House was routed. When Colonel

* “Which answer was not only useful, but wholly new to me, and
what Sir William Warren tells me is true.” Journal of what passed
between the Commissioners of Accounts and myself at the Council
Board. Pepysian MSS. 2874, Miscellansies v1, 385-504. January 17th, 1670,
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Thomson ignorantly urged that there was more use for great
masts than small, Pepys, appealing to Sir Jeremy Smyth as a
seaman, *‘ran him down so as to make him laughed at”. And
when the Commissioners produced an Affidavit by Peter
Pett that Warren's contract had clogged the stores with use-
less masts, he rose to complain of the injustice the King's
Officers lay under, “beyond any of his Majesty’s servants
triable in any other Court, where as Englishmen they have a
right of confronting their accusers”. After which he trumped
Brooke House’s card by producing Pett’s own signed cer-
dficate of the due performance of Warren’s contract. The
discomfiture of the Commissioners was again completed
by the King, who, when it was being urged that Warren’s
rivals had been ready to supply the service with masts on
cheaper terms, contributed the information that they had
indeed been so but only upon condition that they might
have secret leave to trade with the enemy. “Which stroke
from the King himself”’, Pepys notes, “ (being new I confess
to me as well as them, but very scasonable) struck them
dumb,”6

In the next day’s proceedings, which were unexpected,
Pepys took no part. He had gone out early to see Du Vall
the highwayman executed at Tyburn* and so missed asudden
summons to the Council table. But his reply on January 24th
to the Commissioners’ 3rd Observation was devastating. The
crime they charged upon him and his colleagues, he observed,
was their not doing * what in no age was ever practised, what
we could not have attempted to have done without unfaith-
fulness, and what in itself is impossible”’. And once more the
Comumissioners had to listen to their sovereign’s biting ob-

* “Here lies Du Vall; Reader, if male thou art,
Look to thy purse; if female, to thy heart!”
Stone in Covent Garden Church.
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servations about people who made hasty judgments without
hearing the defence, and about the liberty taken in every
coffee-house to declare how much better things were done in
the Navy in the late times, ““those pure Angelical times (saith
the King), to which”, the well-read Pepys interposed, “I
added those times concerning which people discourse in
matters of the Navy as historians do of the primitive times in
reference to the Church”.'7

But just when Pepys’ old tormentors seemed to be routed,
there was a setback. At the last Council meeting in January
the Commissioners presented a rambling paper about their
misrepresentations which, though full of fair professions,
made no real amends for the injustice they had done the
government. Pepys, with his own paper in his hand, was all
ready to annihilate them when, to his mortification, the
Solicitor-General, Sir Heneage Finch, rose and delivered an
eloquent and elaborate harangue, full of compliments to
Brooke House and completely missing the point. *“I con-
fess”’, wrote Samuel, “I was extremely sick of this day’s pas-
sages and particularly the Solicitor’s speech, blessing my
fortune that happened not to begin the day, my discourse
being likely to have been of a sense so much contrary.”
Later when Lord Ashley moved that some further apology
should be demanded, the timorous Finch merely shook
his head and whispered that he did not think it expedient
that the gentlemen should be teased with any ungrateful
questions. The only consolation, before that barren meeting
broke up, was that the great Ashley, now one of the inner
Cabal who controlled the national destinies, leant over to
Pepys and with an oath declared that he thought the Solicitor
was mad.™

On February 1st, in his reply to the Commissioners’ charge
that the Navy Office had received goods without contract,
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Pepys ventured to embark on impromptu oratory without
first reading his Reply. It was not a success, for he forgot
several telling points, “which inconvenience”, he noted in
his Diary, “I must hereafter labour to prevent by reading
always my written answer”. The King, however, was as
usual a great standby, for when Pepys asked him what he
would have said if the Navy Office had failed to provide the
Flect with some essential in an emergency merely for want of
a formal contract, he “answered readily and as happily as I
could have wished that he would have said we deserved to
be hanged”. The Clerk of the Acts, who, like many others,
had once set his sovercign down as one who minded nothin
but pleasure and hated the very sight and thought of business,
was learning to revise his opinions.

The day’s proceedings ended with a row. Old Colonel
Thomson, apropos of nothing, broke into a sudden diatribe
against the Navy Office for having used foreign plank to
build ships, “with some insultingness”, Pepys noted tartly,
“that for his part he had served in the Navy and that he ever
was and should still be for the good English plank. I replied
that we had also served in the Navy as he, and were as much
in love with English planks as he...and should give him
thanks to dircct us where, for a considerable advance of price,
we might be furnished with 2000, or but 1000, or 500 loads
at this day of English plank.... With which his mouth
seeming to be stopped”,* the Council, one imagines thank-
fully, broke up.!?

Nearly another week passed before on Monday, February
7th, Pepys stood again in the presence of the King and
Council. On this occasion he was able to score, a little
irrelevantly, on his old foe, Thomson, by proving the com-

plete falsehood of his boast that the Navy Office officials

* Miscellanies v1, 452.
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under the Commonwealth had had their parish dues and
the cost of their stationery and candles paid by the State.
He then read his reply to the Commissioners’ 8th Ob-
servation, and launched forth on an interminable oration
on the complicated business of balancing Storekeepers’ Ac-
counts.

In the end it became absolutely necessary to stop him, and
this his sovereign, with much tact, did. “The King”, Pepys
wrote happily that night, “was so fully satisfied with the
reason as to prevent any enlarging of mine thereon by taking
it upon himself in his own vindication as well as ours (as he
was pleased to call it) the giving a summary account of the
success of our endeavours in the late War, which he was
pleased to say was such as, but for the unhappy business of
Chatham, we had no reason but to own to come up to the
utmost of what was performed in the First Dutch War. ..
and so of his own accord run over several instances of des~
patch given by this Board in the fitting forth and the refitting
forth of the Fleet before and after fights always sooner than
the enemy could do....To which I humbly took leave to
offer the consideration of the difference between the charge
which the late War is owned to have cost them and us.” But
this financial exercise was not permitted, for again the King
tactfully interposed and “very readily took upon him also to
speak to, by saying that he had made it his work to inform
himself in the expense of the Dutch in the late War and finds
it upon very good information to have amounted to eleven
millions, whereas ours does not. . .exceed six”’. %

On Saturday, February 12th, the debates waged round the
11th, 12th and 13th Observations and the question of pay-
ment by ticket. The day was not without the usual passages
between Pepys and Lord Brereton. The latter plainly thought
that at last he had got a trump card, for, observing that large
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numbers of seamen’s tickets had been found entered as paid
to the late Surveyor, Sir William Batten, who had been
notoriously corrupt, he went on to insinuate that the same
offence could be proved against other members of the Board.
Upon which Pepys rose in his place and took the boldness,
as he putit, “to tell them that whatever they would have the
world think as to others, I did desire the whole world to show
me to have been concerned directly or indirectly in one
ticket....At which”, he continued, “my Lord Brereton,
with a look full of trouble and malignity, answering, ‘How,
Mr Pepys, do you defy the whole world in this matter?’,
I replied, ‘Yes, that I do defy the whole world and my Lord
Brereton in particular’. At which I could perceive the whole
Board shaken with the surprise thereof, and my Lord
Brereton himself strook dumb”.

The Council did not take the Commissioners’ further
charges into consideration undl after the opening of Parlia-
ment. Before the next hearing on February 17th Pepys was
four times warned, by Brouncker, by Mr Slingsby, by Lord
Lauderdale and by the King himself, that Brereton had
publicly given out that he was going to make good his chal-
lenge of proving that he had dealt in the purchasc and sale of
seamen’s tickets. But it was not till February 21st, after Pepys
had demolished Brooke House’s 15th, 16th and 17th Ob-
servations, “‘to the satisfaction of his Majesty and the total
silence of those Commissioners”’, that Lord Brereton sud-
denly and dramatically produced a ticket for £7. 10s.* made
out to one Capps of the Lion and bearing the ominous words
—*“Paid to Mr Pepys”. The implication was that the digni-
fied Clerk of the Acts had used lis official position and the

* By some curious error the amount is stated to have been [o. 7s. in
Pepys'’ letter to Anthony Stephens in lus letter-book. Sce Tanncr, Further
Correspondence, 263.
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broken credit of the government to buy a ticket cheap off
some poor seaman and then cashed it at its face value for
himself. The offending slip of paper was offered in silence to
the King and then to the Duke of York, after which the King
handed it to Pepys. While he was examining it, Colonel
Thomson observed that they would not have troubled his
Majesty with such a trifle, had not Mr Pepys been so positive
in his denial.

But Pepys continued passionately to deny all knowledge
of the thing and to defy mankind to prove that this or any
other ticket was ever paid him. “It is not by any presump-
tuous guess but by a firm knowledge”, he said, “that I do
take upon me to assert in defiance of the whole world my
uninterestedness in anything of this matter, and doubt not. ..
but I shall be able...to show the little truth lying in this.
Which having said,” he recorded, “the King with a smile
and shake of his head told the Commissioners that he thought
it a vain thing to believe that one having so great trust, and
therein acting without any exception in matters of the
greatest moment, should descend to so poor a thing as the
doing anything that was unfit for him in a matter of £7. 10s.”
And there, for the moment, the matter ended.

The proceedings closed with Pepys’ speech on the Com-
missioners’ 18th and final Observation, in which he com-
mented with scorn on the poor shabby proofs which were all
they could bring to support the accusations of nearly two
years. ‘‘At this the King and the whole Board and all by-
standers discovered by their murmur a disdainful resentment
of those gentlemen’s proceedings, and the King and Duke
after their being up took notice of it in like manner publicl
at supper as of a matter most enormous and oppressive.”’
Samuel in fact had crowned his earlier achievements against
the unfortunate Commissioners by proving, in the most
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public manner possible, that they were not even gentlemen.
There were some who never forgave him.*

He had no opportunity of clearing himself in public in the
matter of John Capps’ ticket, for the Council did not meet
again, and after the adjournment of Parliament in April,
the Brooke House Commission died a natural death. But he
took the trouble to write to his old acquaintance, Anthony
Stephens, Carteret’s former clerk, telling him how during
his defence of his Office against the “vanity, frowardness and
injustice”” of the Commissioners he had ““proved so happy as
to leave his Majesty and my Lords of the Council under a
satisfaction”” too great for his accusers to admit of his going
quiet away with, and how they had used his name to support
their charge that a ticket had been paid to Pepys—"“a
particular I knew most false”. And he asked Stephens for an
immediate explanation, and in writing.?3

So ended, as he called it long after, *“the ridiculous success
of that terrible Commission to Brooke House”’—on the one
side in ridicule that lefe behind it a bitter sting and on the
other by false legend that the lapse of two and a half centuries
has not fully dissipated. So ended also Pepys’ second, though
not his last, diary. On March 3rd, the pressure of his labours
relaxed, he wrote to his late agent at Aldeburgh to thank him
for his help during his unsuccessful election and to apologise
for not having written before; “nothing but the sorrow and
distraction I have been in by the death of my wife, increased
by the suddenness with which it pleased God to surprise me
therewith, after a voyage so full of health and content, could
have forced me to so long a neglect of my private concerne-
ments”’. For the support Captain Elliott had given him he
was as grateful, he assured him, “as if the business had suc-
ceeded to the best of our wishes”. As for those who had
opposed him and so shown disrespect for his patrons, the
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Duke of York and Lord Howard, they would, “meet with a
time of seeing their error therein”. It was a foolish threat to
make in free and Protestant England, seeing that of his
patrons one was a professed and the other, though Pepys did
not yet know it, a secret Catholic. But, for the moment, this
matter like others could rest, and there was time, and time to
spare, to mourn Elizabeth.?



I

—
—

Chapter II

|

The Man Made

“ Mens cujusque is est quisque.”
Pepys’ motto.

The Samuel Pepys who gazed out over the roofs and tree-
tops of London that Spring was a different Samuel to the
young clerk of ten years before. What the outside world saw
was a little, squat, dark man,* incessantly busy, self-important
with the additional and slightly ludicrous dignity common
in men of small stature, and, were it not for the life and
brightness of his eyes, decidedly ugly. Those who were lazy
were apt to find the Clerk of the Acts officious and over-
anxious to impress others with a sense of his own splendid
devotion to duty (and, as often as not, of their own neglect
of it). Refined folk, though they shared his tastes, which were
alrcady princely, and relished his company, which was en-
trancing, were sometimes apt to think him pushing and even
vulgar—the result, doubtless, of his humble origin; he had
once, it was rumoured, carried the homely wares of his father,
the tailor. And though he was now at the age of thirty-seven
the recognised driving force of the Navy Office, Treasurer
of Tangier, and a man of great influence and authority with
a house full of fine things and a banking balance at Alderman
Backwell’s that ran into many thousands, Pepys’ contem-

* “ asked him what was that Mr Pepys; he said he was a low squat
man.” Information of Spackman, Pepysian MSS., Mornamont 1, 38.
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poraries had not altogether forgotten the lowly source from
which he sprang. In quiet ways they liked tp remind him
of it.

Yet nearly all those who knew him intimately liked and
admired him. It was not so much that he was industrious,
true to his word, a great outward respecter of virtue and the
conventions, a loyal and courageous upholder of his office
and his collcagues. He was magnificent company. No one
in all that high-spirited England had a greater zest for life or
was more good-humoured, and the hard struggle by which
he had won and retained his place and dignities had not left
any alloy of bitterness or disillusionment. He loved com-
pany and company loved him. And his admirers included
most women. He was compact of vitality and eager to relish
every experience, and had all the child’s sense of enjoyment
that prompts a woman to spoil a man. And almost as dear
to the other sex, he loved things of good report: was dis-
creet, honoured the respectabilities, and liked to sce all around
him neat and ordered.*

This was the surface: there were deeper waters beneath,
To what are we to look for the core of the man?—and the
answer must be to that intangible, illusive quality, character.
It was bred of the sturdy Fen stock from which he came,
nourished in his youth by the homely Puritan preccpts and
example of his parents, and developed by the constant friction
of a powerful ambition on the rough surface of life and work.
When he chose there was no limit to his capacity for labour,
and he could work as quickly as he could persistently and
doggedly. To put his great powers to their full stretch, he
generally needed some special occasion: an attack on his
office or honour or a shattered flect crying to be refitted in
the teeth of urgent time. Yet he had shown that he could
force himself from idleness or pursuit of pleasure to a course
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of unbroken diligence with no other stimulus but the prick
of conscience or ambition. This too he had found easier with
the passage of time, and, whenever he achieved it, a source of
happiness.?

For pleasure had often called him and at thirty-seven must
call him again. He loved good food and wine and women—
too well these, perhaps, for there was something pathological
in his craving for the excitements of sex;—he was avid for
every new sight and experience, full of inextinguishable
curiosity and infinite capacity for being pleased. His mind
delighted in curious speculations and problems, and he, who
ten years before had eagerly contemplated *“a pretty trick to
try whether 2 woman be a maid or no, by a string going
round her head to meet at the end of her nose”’, could now
show an equal zest for the learned propositions and wonders
that tickled the intellectual palates of the Arundel House
philosophers in whose company he was so proud to count
himself. Mathematical propositions and mechanical instru-
ments, the power of spirits to animate dead bodies, the intri-
cate niceties of the Law, were all canvassed by that restless
mind. And the soul moved with it. Beauty was with him an
unconscious passion; when he looked at one of the stately
palaces by the Thames side, it thrilled him to see ““the remains
of the noble soul of the late Duke of Buckingham appearing
in his house, in every place, in the doorcases and the win-
dows”. Some of his descriptions of scenery are among the
most moving things of their kind in our literature—the
summer drive with his family on the Banstead Downs or
the glow-worms shining in the fields under the walls of
Tangier.3

His home was a treasure-house of seemly and beautiful
things, and it was his taste, not Elizabeth’s, for all her wfely
zeal in sewing and fringing, that made it so, for it continued
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to grow in beauty after her death. Even now, after the lapse
of two and a half centuries, the bindings of his books and the
cases that house them reflect the spirit of the man who chose
to have them so: there is nowhere, not even in the great
Diary itself, that one can come so near to the heart of Pepys
as in his little library at Magdalene. *“My delight”, he once
said, “is in the neatness of everything, and so cannot be
pleased with anything unless it be very neat.” It had to be
beautiful, too, though with him, as with nearly all the great
men of his age, beauty and order went hand in hand and were
scarcely separable.4

He found their union most in music—a lover of harmony
and music, John Evelyn once called him. *“Musique”, he
himself wrote, *“is the thing of the world that I love most.”
No reader of the Diary is likely to forget the passage in which
he described how the sweet sound of the wind music ravished
his soul and made him afterwards feel physically sick as he
had once been in the ecstasy of first love for his wife. He did
not only love music, but understood its niceties; he was an
accomplished and always happy performer on the flageolet,
the lute and the bass viol; he had learnt the technical art of
composition and had composed at least one excellent song,
“Beauty Retire”, which is very much more than the
dilettante achievement of an accomplished amateur. And he
could sing it in a voice that gave his friends pleasure and him-
self more. The older he grew, the more Pepys loved and
practised music. *“A science”, he wrote of it in his last years,
“peculiarly productive of a pleasure that no state of life,
public or private, secular or sacred; no difference of age or
season; no temper of mind or condition of health exempt
from present anguish; nor, lastly distinction of quality,
renders either improper, untimely or unentertaining.” He

always found it so, and it was a happy gift of the gods that
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brought him a measure nearer the angels than he would
otherwise have been.’

To some, perhaps, he seemed rather too near the angels—
but they judged him by his public appearances, and not as
we can and those who knew and loved him did, by his easier,
less righteous moments of intimacy. After the manner of the
Puritans among whom he had been brought up he was much
given in his bilious hours to deploring the “vanity and dis-
orders of the age”, and, what was a great deal more annoy-
ing, the more particular frailties of those of his contemporaries
with whom he chanced to come into conflict. He possessed
in a very peculiar degree the gift of making other people
seem small. With this he combined an intensely irritating
habit of calling attention to his own virtues, which partly
arose out of an excessive sensitiveness to criticism, particu-
larly to criticism in its most common terrestrial form, unjust
criticism. And it also arose from a very real and ever-abiding
sense of what he once described as “God'’s great mercy to me,
and His blessing upon my taking pains, and being punctual
in my dealings™.®

For Pepys was both sensitive and self~confident—a para-
doxical mixture of character not quite as uncommon as it
seems and one that helps to explain the apparent discrepancies
in his temperament. He could not bear to have people think
or speak ill of him (though as time went on he grew more
accustomed to it), was as eager to vindicate himself of eve
charge as a passionate child and had a wonderful and quite
womanlike capacity for fretting and worrying. It was this
that accounted for his occasional and rather petulant im-
patiences. Yet with all this he never doubted his capacity to
achieve what he really set himself to attain; and he was per-
petually choosing goals that would have daunted any other
man, “Ithank God”, he once wrote, “I have always carried
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about me such a watchfulness and integrity as will support
me. . .against anything that the Malice of Mankind can offer
to my prejudice.” There were, perhaps naturally, some who
thought him arrogant and a hypocrite. Yet they were usually
of the baser sort.’

Under Pepys’ outward arrogance was a gentleness of feel-
ing towards others that may not have been bred in him, but
which arose from his sensitiveness and grew with his always
deeply felt experience of life. To those who were unassuming
he was generous and even extravagant to give praise, and
ready to admire in others virtues which he was then charm-
ingly able to forget in himself. The jealous, self-assertive,
bourgeois temperament that strangers saw in his worse
moments and resented, was only a shell: fundamentally he
was a gentleman in a sense that perhaps few men are. And
he did not only wish that others should love him, but was
capable of dcep affection towards others. When he was far
from his friends, he could not always keep back the tears
when he thought of them; his experience, influence and in-
dustry were perpetually at their disposal, and his delight in
their conversation and society constitutes one of the most
moving features of his correspondence. Nothing could be
more tender than his attitude towards those to whom he had
given his trust and heart. They repaid it by an almost pas-
sionate affection and loyalty; to those who served and under-
stood him, such as Will Hewer and Morelli and his clerk of
later years, Lorrain, scarcely anything scemed too good for
him. He was their adored master and all that they had was
at his service.?

To his family and all those who had claims on him, like
his old servants the Edwardses whose children he continued
to befriund when their parents were dead, he was most loyal.
It cannot always have been easy to be a careful, successful,
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fastidious man to own and take responsibility for the rather
helpless and down-at-heels relations whom fate had chiefly
bestowed upon Samuel Pepys. But he did so, and gave them
love as well. Gratitude and loyalty, almost the rarest of
human qualities, he was blessed with to a fortunate degree—
fortunate to those to whom that gratitude and loyalty at-
tached, but most fortunate of all to himself. In the whole of
his life there is no record that he ever betrayed a trust.9

To others less dependent on him he could be very charit-
able. His correspondence is full, not only of references to the
complaints of angry men, but of palpably sincere testimonies
of the deeply felt thanks of grateful men. *““Honoured Sir
and my worthy good friend,” wrote one of them, “I thank
God he hath given me discretion to be sensible of the kind-
ness you have so frankly done me. I besecch the same God
to make me capable (in some measure) to retribute the
courtesy . . .which [ am fearful I shall never be able to requite.
However, my wife and children and I am bound to praise
God that hath sent us such a friend.”* Many another of his
countrymen, and many a distressed foreigner (for whom he
always had a tender place in his heart) shared the same grateful
praver. Most of all were the ingenious and industrious sure
of Pepys’ charity, whether they were learned scholars or
humble craftsmen. That it was sometimes a carefully modu-
lated charity, no one can blame him, for the calls on his well-
filled but not boundless pursc were perpetual, and, as is
always the case when such calls are answered, for ever in-
creasing in number.™®

Moderation, that classic quality, he learnt to practise with
the years; for one as sensitive and passionate as he it was the
one certain salve that life offered. Long ago, while still a lad,

* Capt. T. Guy to S. Pepys. Dec. 14th, 1670. Rawl. MSS. A. 174,
f. 191.
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he had been struck by the beauty of Epictetus’ rule—
TGV Svtwv T& pév domv &9’ fuiv T& 8¢ olk &g’ fulv—a
saying of great reason, he thought it, that he should not vex
himself over what he could not control. In his passionate
youth and early manhood he had found it hard to practise;
but every year made it a little easier. To it he added another
rule—est modus in rebus. After Elizabeth’s death it became
the regimen of all his domestic affairs: “having not in my
nature”’, as he told a friend, ““any more aversion to sordid-
ness than I have to pomp”. To avoid extremes, that must
be the secret of life, and he made his home a cool and
temperate place where the storms of the outside world
could not reach him. The desire for the happy mean saved
him from the excess of his passion for perfection—that
dangerous impulse which, urging him to great heights,
carried him also along the brink of precipices.'*

The bent of his mind, whenever he could escape from his
too cager passions, tended to moderation. He was by nature
exceedingly just, and, despite the occasional lapses caused by
his ambition, was often so against his own interests—probably
too much so for him ever to attain to the highest pinnacles of
public life. Readers of the Diary will recall how unflinch-
ingly he could hold the scales against himself. It was the
source of his honesty and of that stern sense of duty, which if
too anxious to impress on others he always kept doggedly
before himself. But he was not only honest in the smaller
punctilios of life (though not quite always, it must be con-
fessed, in the greater ones), but honest in his mind in a way
uncommon among Englishmen of his stamp, though perhaps
more so in his England than it is in ours. He may have been,
as Coleridge called him, a pollard man, but he was not easily
deceived by intellectual conventions, whether of his own or
of other men’s making. His habit of secing through his own



Aet. 37] SENSE OF HUMOUR 45

motives was often disconcerting, and he had an unexpected
talent for philosophical reflection which was not the less dis-
tinguished for being generally couched in quaint and rather
ingenuous language. His frequent gaiety and love of fun
were on the surface and declined with age; his sense of
humour was of a rarer, grimmer kind that if anything grew
with experience; without its brilliant flame, it had more than
a touch of his sovereign’s mordant wit. “Do an oyster gape
and shut according to the tide when it is out of the water?”,
he jotted down among his notes during a period when the
Admiralty was enjoying the most ignorant and incompetent
rule that it had ever known; “if so, a better oracle for the sea
than any of our present Commissioners of the Admiralty.”
Pepys never lost a fastidious sense—it became keener as he
rose with age into a sort of innate aristocracy of mind—of
constantly comparing his high scnse of what things ought to
be with what they were. Sometimes it made him incline to
retire out of the world and abandon in disgust the obstinate
pattern of things that would not sct to his hand and desire.
For Pepys could sulk. But from this he was always sooner
or later saved by his courage and force of character. Smaller
men seeing his pleasures or his labours, sometimes mistook
him for a dilettante or a mere boneless man of routine; but,
when they acted on the belief that he would sacrifice essen-
tials to love of comfort or office, they found themsclves de-
ceived. He never sacrificed a single one. In the waiting,
anxious hours before a fight he could suffer agonies, but
when the necessity for it arose he fought gloriously.3
Once, in the autumn of the year that saw his brush with
Brooke House, Pepys was almost betrayed into a duel with
the Swedish resident, Sir John Barckman Leyenbergh, and
was only prevented by a hasty order from the King and Lord
Arlington that he was on no account either to send or accept
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a challenge. It was possibly a dispute about his privatecring
accounts with the estate of his former partner, Sir William
Batten, whose widow Leyenbergh soon afterwards married;
one can feel quite certain that he believed whole-heartedly
and passionately that he was in the right. A year or two
before he had described Leyenbergh as *‘a cunning fellow”
and noted that he wore a fur cap and mittens in bed. But
Leyenbergh was a man of learning, a member of the Royal
Socicty, with a house in the fashionable piazza of Covent
Garden, where he kept very agreeable company, and Pepys
does not appear to have borne him any permanent grudge
nor he Pepys, for among the books in the Pepysian Library
is a folio history of Sweden with a flattering Latin inscription
presented to him by Leyenbergh in 1687 in memory of
twenty-six years of happy friendship.™

Not that he was reckless. There was a nicely calculated
prudence in his ordinary actions whercby he laid up treasure
for himself against the day of trouble. His worldly goods
continued to increase for a long time after the Diary ended;
and his integrity and very real courage when the hour of
sacrifice struck never made him a poor man. Nor was he
without a certain cunning. ““What cares I am in”, he once
told a friend, *“to keep myself having to do with people of so
different factions at Court, and yet must be fair with them
all”’; indeed he seemed to take a pretty content in doing so.
He knew from A to Z the art of suggesting nobility or dis-
interestedness of motive while pursuing very effectively some
advantage of hisown. And he sometimes practised with equal
skill the craft of deliberately, though with an appearance of
dignified innocence, shutting his cyes to somcthing that he
did not wish to see. He acquired, as the years went by, a very
serviceable stock of worldly wisdom, which he was always

ready to place, with some display, at the disposal of his
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younger and less experienced friends. And more than one
knave was to find this man of probity a match for him.!s

His religion had more than a touch of the same worldly
sense; at least he was never taken in by its professors. “A
cunning fellow,” he wrote of his parish priest, “and knows
where the good victuals is and the good drink.” In fact his
opinion of parsons was generally anything but flattering. He
particularly disliked the more enthusiastic variety, whose
canting sermons had been so much in vogue during his
youth; everyone recalls his disgust when “a simple bawling
young Scot preached”’. But it was not really the enthusiasm
he disliked, but only the simulated appearance of it; a man
of genuine saintliness, of whatever profession, always won his
respect. And for unrepentant wickedness and debauchery he
had a real horror: religion to him was the means by which
divine order reassumed its rule over chaos, and his Father in
Heaven was like himself a benevolent, though stern, ad-
ministrator. He set His Commandments up at his private
expense in the winter of 1670~1 in Chatham Church, to stand,
as one of his correspondents put it, as a durable monument
of his pious generosity. He had little belief in dogma or
persecution—a tolerance which in that most intolerant age
placed him constantly under suspicion. But he had been
brought up a Puritan and remained a Protestant, though a
very broad one, was constant in his attendance at divine
service, which he plainly regarded as one of the guiding
rails of an ordered life, and was too shrewd and had too
much reverence for the nobility and beauty of life not to be
a believer. “If faith be the evidence of things not seen,” he
once wrote to a friend, “infidelity must be a non-discerning
of things visible.”*¢

Order, dignity and strength that springs from order, a
comely and seemly rule in all things, there lay the motive
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springs of Pepys’ career. He was a monarchist, and, as the
years went by an increasingly strong one— (he who, as a boy,
had rejoiced when the axe severed Charles I's head)—because
to him monarchy stood for external order and the decencies
of life, which deserved respect and loyalty even when its
representatives were personally unworthy of their trust.
Once, when he was quite a young man, he heard an irreverent
Scottish Colonel speaking of the Emperor as a sot because he
neglected his duties and was led by the Jesuits; “Mr Progers”,
he recorded gratefully, ““told him that it was not a thing to be
said of any Sovereign Prince, be his weaknesses what they
will, to be called a sot, which methinks was very prettily
said.” And into the service of order, all his energy, vast
ability and passion for detail were enlisted. In due season they
bore a great fruit, not for himself alone nor for the Stuart
kings whom he served with flawless loyalty but could not
save, but for the island State he loved and which still lives by
the service he did her."7

For the rest he still inhabited the house in the Navy Office
in Seething Lane, with its courtyard garden and its plcasant
walk on the leads to repair to on spring evenings, when the
first blossom of the city fruit trees pecped out of the dark
tunnels of alley and lane. There was no Elizabeth to share it
with him now, and there is no evidence that he ever so much
as thought of marrying again. That he continued to have
affairs with women is likely enough, though, being a
thoroughly discreet man and no longer keeping a shorthand
diary, the knowledge of them is as remote from us as it was
from his contemporaries. We do know, however, that not
long after Elizabeth’s death he formed a connection with a
young lady of good family called Mary Skinner, the daughter
of a respectable but declining city merchant who lived in
Mark Lane in his parish and sister to a young Westminster
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and Cambridge scholar who had had the then rather invidious
distinction of having been John Milton’s last amanuensis.
Her parents, who, like most who knew him well, had a great
admiration for Pepys, were shocked, as well they might be,
when they realised the passionate nature of the relationship
which had sprung up between their young and witty daughter
and the charming, worthy and, as they had supposed almost
awe-inspiringly virtuous, public man whom they were so
proud to know. Pepys, in his love for Mary, had befriended
her clever but erratic young brother, Daniel, but when the
truth was realised, the good relationship between the two
families was severed. Yet only temporarily, for after a few
years the younger generation of Skinners were once more
looking to Pepys as their patron, and he and Mary’s mother
became close friends. And as neither Samuel nor Mary ever
married, and as a quarter of a century later she had returned
to him as the respected mistress of his houschold and the
loved consoler of his old age, it is certain that their enduring
flame was no mere light of love. however bright and perilous
the spark that first lit it. She was a clever and charming
woman, with all Samuel’s own love of order and beauty, and
a serene instinct for bringing it into the lives of those who
were happy enough to know her. Almost Pepys’ last words
were of her: as he lay dying he called her, what she truly was
to him, his dear child. Yet though Samuel lived perhaps a
happier and less hysterical life after his wife’s death, some-
thing in him that neither time nor any other woman could
take away belonged to Elizabeth, and he carried it with him
to the grave.®

To his dead wife’s memory Pepys dedicated his care of her
poverty-stricken parents and her feckless brother, Balty St
Michel, whom he had provided with the post of Muster
Master at Deal. Three years after her death Balty, whose
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family also Pepys sheltered and to whose eldest son he stood
godfather, wrote to him:

You daily and hourly so comble me with (not only expressions
but also) deeds of your worthiness and goodness, as well to my-
self as the rest of your most devoted humble creatures here, that
I am as well as my poor drooping mother (whose continual ill-
ness since the death of my father gives me but little hopes she will
survive him long). . .a living witness of your dearness to her poor
child your late dear consort, my beloved sister.*

There is a charming postscript, too, to the letter, which gives
a glimpse of another side of Pepys’ character,

Litcle Samuel (who speaks now very pretily) desires to have
his most humble duty presented to his most honoured uncle and
god-father, which please to accept from your most humble lictle
disciple.'

His own younger brother, John, also claimed Pepys’